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1. Name of Property
Historic name Seattle Yacht Club - Main Station

Other names/site number

2. Location

street & number 1807 Hamlin Street - _ not for publication
city or town Seattle vicinity
State Washington code =WA county King code 033  zip code 98112

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, { hereby certify that this X
nomination __ requesl for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional reguirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my
opinion, the property meets __ doesg not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered
significant __ nationally ___ statewide X lo . { __ See continuation sheet for additional cornments.}

L, 3-23-06
SignW:emfying official/Title / Date

WASHINGRDY  SmiT€ Hisrtn . MGG AVATRY SO E

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property __ meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. (__ See continuation sheet for
additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

3. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby, certify that this property is: Signafure of the Keeper Date of Action

___entered in the National Register.
- ___ See continuation sheet

___ determined eligible for the
National Register.
. See continuation sheet

. determined not eligible for the
National Register.

___removed from the
National Register.

___other {explain:)
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) {Check only one box
X private X building(s)
public-local district
public-State site
public-Federal structure
object

Name of related multiple property listing:
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
{Do not incl. previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Non-Contributing
1 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 Total

Number of contributing resources previcusly
listed in the National Register

None

6. Functions or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Social: Clubhouse

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

Social: Clubhouse

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY

REVIVALS: Colonial Revival

Narrative Description
{Describe the historic and current condition of the property.}

Materials
(Enter ¢ategories from instructions)

foundation Concrete

walls Wood

roof Asphalt

other

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
{Mark "X" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the

property
for National Register listing.)

X A Property is associated with events that have

made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of our history.

B Property is assoclated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
{Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.}

Property is:

A owed by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance
{Explain the significance of the property.)

Areas of Significance
(Enter categoeries from instructions}

Social

Period of Significance
1920 - 1946

Significant Dates
1920

Significant Person
{Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Culturat Affiliation

Architect/Builder
Graham, John Senior (Architect)

Sylhaasen & Sandhal (Builder)

Graham, John Junior (Architect)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

{Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

____ preliminary determination of individual listing
(36 CFR 67) has been requested
previously listed in the National Register
____ previously determined eligible by the National
Register
____ designated a National Historic Landmark
#
recorded by Historic American Engineering

Record#

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary location of additional data:

___ State Historic Preservation Office
___ Other State agency
__ Federal agency
____ Local government
____ University
____ Other
Name of repository:
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 1.24 acres

UTM References

{Place additional UTM References on a continuation sheet.)

tlwf {sisijoaj {s2fzz]me} 3 L 4§ | ) L
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

24 o oe 71t I [_]
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property. ) See continuation sheet.

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected.) See continuation sheet.

11. Form Prepared By

nametitle Ellen Mirro, intern; Larry Johnson, Principal

organization __ The Johnson Partnership date  October 2005

street & number 1212 NE 65th St telephone  (206) 523-1618

city or town Seattle state WA zipcode 98115

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

Property Owner {Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPQ.)

name The Seattle Yacht Club ¢/o0 John Decker, Decker Architects

street & number 3500 First Ave NW telephone (206) 633-5297

city or town Seattle state WA zip code 98107
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NARRATIVE DECRIPTION:

Location

The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station is located at 1807 East Hamlin Street within the Montlake
Neighborhood and partially fronting on Portage Bay in Seattle, Washington. The Club is prominently
located on a broad point on Portage Bay and can be viewed from a number of transportation corridors
and public viewing points that lie to the south and west of the property.

Neighborhood Character

The immediate neighborhood inctudes residentiai single-family structures, the majority built between the
early 1920s and World War Il. The U.S. Northwest Fisheries Research Center is located southeast of the
site. The western portion of Montlake has two streets, Shelby and Hamilin, which lead from Montlake
Boulevard to West Montlake Park. These streets contain mature street trees and-a variety of single-family
residences of either one or two stories. Most of the single-story structures are of Craftsman bungalow
style and many of the two-story structures are of various revival styles popular in the mid-1920s. The U.S.
Northwest Fisheries Research Center sits well back from Hamlin Street and consists of three buildings, a
three-story brick masonry Art Deco style building and two newer contemporary structures from the 1960s.

Site

The Seattle Yacht Club site is a truncated rectangular lot measuring approximately 140’ wide in the east-
west direction by 60'-5" deep in the north-south direction. The site abuts Shelby Avenue North on the
north, an unnamed alley on the east, and Washington State Department of Natural Resources land or
lakefront on the south and west. The site slopes gently down approximately 10’ from the north to the
south. A circular drive serving the building’s main entrance is located north of the building, a parking lot is
iocated to the east, additional parking and lockers lie to the south, and marina floats and lawn extend
from the western edge of the property line. The site is landscaped minimally on the northern, eastern, and
westemn sides, while the southern side is paved from the property line to the fagade.

Adjacent to the site are floats and covered moorage, which in their current configuration date from 1963,
although a fire in 2001 destroyed about 10 percent of the structures, which were subsequently re-built.
The moorage has historically been an integral part of the Seattle Yacht Club services available to its
members, and the Seattle Yacht Club has leased the adjacent land from the Department of Natural
Resources (DNRY) following the relocation of the Main Station to Portage Bay in 1920, for the express
purpose of providing the safe, convenient moorage to its members, and also for moorage for the Club-
owned boats.

Also adjacent to the site, but not part of the nomination, are two items owned by the Seattle Yacht Club, a
“yardarm” and a “historic anchor.” They are located on Seattle Parks property. The Seattle Yacht Ciub
has, at various times in the past, considered itself to own the property on which the yardarm and anchor
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stand, but in the mid 1970s Seattle Parks made ownership clear, but gave the Yacht Club a maintenance
agreement for that area on which their objects lie. .

The yardarm is called a signal mast on the 1931 drawings by John Graham, Senior. It is 86 feet high and
has a 32-foot wide yard crossing at a 45-foot elevation. It looks like a yacht mast, but is anchored to the
ground with a concrete footing at the base of the mast and tied down by guy wires at three points. The
main purpose of this yardarm is to carry the Seattle Yacht Club Burgee and other maritime signal flags.

Captain Stewart of the Alaska Steamship Company’s Tanana brought the “historic anchor” to the Seattle
Yacht Club in 1967. The Tanana’s crew had brought up the anchor after their own anchor became fouled
on it while anchored in 30 feet of water at the confluence of the Kvichak and Naknek rivers in Alaska. The
provenance of the anchor is not known, but Captain Stewart remarked that it might have belonged to the
Charles Moody, which had burned and sank in that vicinity. The anchor is thought to have been lost
between 1885 and 1920. The anchor now sits between the yardarm and the Main Station Clubhouse on
Seattle Parks Property.

Seattle Yacht Club: Building Structure & Exterior Features

The building in form is a two-story T-shaped wooden-framed structure composed of intersecting clipped
gambrel-roofed wings with an original 1920 northern secondary wing, a tower, a colonnade, and a newer,
1967, two-story flat-roof service wing addition. The building presently measures overall approximately
92'-9" wide in the east-west direction by 108'-11" deep in the north-south direction. Both gambrel roofs
have an 8 '/,-in-12 upper pitch and a 24-in-12 lower pitch. The original, 1920, 1 '/, story secondary wing
juts approximately 9'-4" northward from the face of building’s northeastern corner, intersecting the east-
west main gambrel roof. A one-story extension of the same width projects approximately 20'-10" further
north in line with its higher section. Both sections have clipped gable roofs with 10-in-12 roofs. The
octagonal tower is nestled into the crook created by the north wing and the main building and is
approximately 14'-0" wide at its base, tapering to 12'-0" at its upper fioor. The 1920 one-story classical
colonnade projects approximately 15'-4" from the building’s north face. The colonnade projects
approximately 14'-6" from the building’s western face and extends along the north face of the main
building until it broadens slightly where it intersects with and wraps around the tower before meeting the
north wing on its eastern end, creating a formal building entry. The newer, 1967, two-story addition joins
the original flat-roofed section located at the building’s southeastern corner and wraps around the
building's southwestern corner projecting from the building’s original southern face, also the face of the
southern gambrel end, approximately 11°-6", and approximately 14'-6", aligning with the westernmost face
of the colonnade to the north.

The height of the tower from the main floor line, near grade at the north main entry, is approximately 43'-
3" to the top of the roof peak. The main east-west gambrel roof measures approximately 33'-4" from the
main floor to the ridge, and the maximum height of the intersecting north-south gambrel is approximately
40’-6" above the lower floor line, which lies approximately at grade along the south building face. The
main floor is approximately 12'-0" above the lower floor, and the second floor is approximately 12'-Q"
above the main floor. The ceiling height of the second floor is approximately 9'-0".
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The building’s exterior walls are covered entirely with white painted cedar shingles with an exposure of 5".
All trim is also painted white. All sloped roofs are presently covered with asphalt/fiberglass composition
shingles. All flat roofs, balconies, and decks are covered with bitumen “torch-down” membranes. All
sloped roofs have metal gutters and down spouts. .

The building’s main entrance is located near the midpoint of the northern fagade. The tapered octagonal
tower designed to resemble a lighthouse dominates this fagade. There is a glazed wooden paneled
door located on the north face of the tower at the second floor level that provides access to a deck
located above the colonnade. There are eight small six-light wooden-sash windows with brick mould
trim located on various faces of the tower that provide light to the interior stair. An octagonal faux lens
house surmounts the tower. The house has rectangular plate glass windows and a wooden guardrail
with three horizontal rails. A small projecting cornice provides a transition to the peaked copper roof. A
decorative weathervane is mounted at the roof peak. A recent shallow hipped roof addition is located on
the western side of the tower. The addition extends up from the deck above the colonnade
approximately midway up the tower and extends southward where it intersects with the northern face of
the building and with the gambrel roof. This small addition accommodates an elevator that provides
accessibility to the second floor.

The colonnade consists of a series of paired round Tuscan columns supporting a simple architrave,
although square columns are placed in the corners to create clusters of columns, with two round and
one square. These clusters occur at the two corners of the western projection, and at the western end
on the western side of the entry. The eastern side of the entry has a cluster of four columns, two round
and two square, that allow a slight offset providing near symmetry to the entry. Attached square
columns are also used where the colonnade meets the building. The clusters create five bays across
the colonnade. The colonnade has a ceiling of tongue-and-groove beaded ceiling. it has a flat-roof that
is used as a deck or balcony with a guard railing composed of light framing with staggered horizontal
rails. A light wood-framed exit stair leading down from the upper deck is located at the westernmost end
of the colonnade. The colonnade is enclosed on its eastern end with a large wood-sash window and a
pair of glazed entry doors with an arched transom window to create a projecting entry vestibule that
accommodates the accessibility elevator. A fabric awning supported on metal posts presently provides
weather shelter for the entry.

The north exterior wall beneath the colonnade has a pair of glazed doors that are on axis to the
fireplace within the interior room and the center colonnade bay. The doors each have 12 lights and the
pair is topped with a 12-light transom window. A large double-hung wood-sash 12-over-one window is
located to the west of the French door set, centered on the colonnade next to the westernmost bay.
There is a large shed dormer located on the western end of the main gable and centered between the
tower and the western gable end. The dormer roof is the same slope as the upper gambrel pitch. The
northern exterior wall of the dormer is in-line with the: building’s northern wall and has three equally
spaced openings; the easternmost and center are filled with pairs of six-over-one wood-sash windows
and the westernmost is filled with a pair of glazed and paneled wood doors. The lower exterior wall of
the north wing has a tripartite window composed of 12-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows. The
window has a raised architrave head casing featuring a centrally placed pediment. A small rectangular
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gable end vent is located above the window.

The eastern fagade reveals the end of the main gambrel, side of the southern large gambrel, the end of
the flat-roofed south addition, and the sides of the northern wing. The main gambrel end has three
floors of window or door openings. The upper most floor, or second floor, has five symmetrically placed
windows, the two outermost are narrower one-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows and the three
innermost are larger one-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows. The central window has a head
trim composed of a broken pediment and central urn ornament. A small square gable end vent is
located in the attic wall above the central window. The main floor has five windows; the northernmost
four are placed directly under the northernmost four of the floor above. Within this cluster, the
northernmost two are eight-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows, and the two southernmost are
taller, with the southernmost of the pair a 12-over-one wood-sash double-hung window. The
northernmost window is the same size, but presently has a vent located in its upper sash. The
southernmost window, an eight-over-one wood-sash double-hung window, is located within an interior
service stairway and has its sill at the main floor level. This window has a gable fabric awning mounted
to the wali immediately above it. The lower floor, or lower floor level, has a paneled glazed service door
on the southernmost side located slightly below grade and directly below the southern stairway window.
A pair of eight-light hopper windows is located directly north of this door.

The original, 1920, flat-roofed corner section and the southern addition are in plane on the eastern
fagade, creating a flat monolithic two-story block at its southern end. There is a pair of one-over-one
wood-sash double-hung windows on the northern side of the main floor level, a glazed store-door on the
southernmost end of the lower floor level, and three plate-glass casement windows irregularly spaced to
the north of the door. The lower floor door has a gable fabric awning mounted to the wall immediately
above it. The flat roof above this section is used for mechanical equipment and venting from the
kitchen/service areas below. The flat-roofed section has a guardrail consisting of wood uprights and
wood rails with intermediate glazing. Three conjoined shed dormers, each with a different pitch, are
located at the southeastern corner of the intersection of the gambrel roofs.

The fagade of the northern wing also is in plane with the main gambrel's eastern end. The higher roof
section houses the building's main stairway and has a centrally iocated eight-over-one wood-sash double-
hung window immediately below the roof eave line, with its midpoint near second floor level. A paneled and
glazed entry door is located immediately below this window accessing the mid-level landing between the
lower floor and main floor levels. This doorway has a fabric gabled entry canopy extending eastward and
supported on metal poles. The lower roofed northern section of the wing has three equally spaced window
openings on the main floor level—the southernmost houses an eight-over-one wood-sash double-hung
window, and the northernmost are a pair of 12-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows. The lower level
has a pair of four-over-one {(horizontally in-line) wood-sash double-hung windows located on the southern
portion of this section of the fagade.

The south fagade consists of a two-story flat-roofed, 1967, addition placed in front of the large southern
gambrel end. The central section of this addition, corresponding to the width of the gambrel roof end,
projects slightly from the remaining fagade and features a centrally placed recessed entry porch that
provides access to the main circulation haliway of the lower floor level. Above the porch opening is an
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architrave with a central flat arch. A sconce is located at the center of the arch and two additional sconces
flank the porch opening. The porch has two symmetrically placed square columns on the face of the
facade. The space between the columns is open while the two flanking openings are filled with wood
screen lattice of ornate fretwork. A rectangular sign is mounted on the face of the wall above the arch.
The easternmost section of the fagade is blank with the exception of a grilled vent below the overhanging
roof cornice. The main floor of the westernmost section of the fagade has a row of large rectangular
plate-glass windows along its entire width, which provide views from the second floor dining room. A
fabric awning is mounted above these windows. The lower floor level portion of this section has three
symmetrically placed one-over-one double-hung wood-sash windows. The flat roof of the addition has a
wood and glass guardrail that continues around from the eastern fagade. The gambrel face has a row of
seven equally spaced plate-glass windows along its face. A fabric awning is mounted above these
windows and a half-round gable end vent is centrally located within the attic portion of the gambre! face. A
brick chimney extends above the roof on the western side of the main gambrel. Another taller stucco
faced chimney or vent extends above the eastern side of the main gambrel. Roof mounted mechanical
equipment is prominently visible on the eastern flat-roofed section.

The western fagade retains the original, 1920, end of the north colonnade and the face of the main gambrel
end on its northern half and the flat roofed two-story addition on its southern half. The 1967 addition wraps
around the southwestern corner and continues with large rectangular plate-glass windows allowing views
from the main floor dining room. The fabric awing also continues around the comer above these plate-glass
windows. The roof of the addition serves as a deck for the second floor dining room and has the same
wood and glass guardrail as the eastern and southern fagades. A shed dormer has been added to the
western gambrel roof to provide additional floor space for the second floor dining room as well as additional
access to the deck. The deck surface has been covered with wooden deck pallets. The lower floor level of
the addition has three equally spaced one-over-one double-hung wood-sash windows. The main east-west
gambrel end retains a central large horizontal plate-glass window on the second floor, but is presently
flanked by identically sized plate-glass windows. A fabric awning is mounted above these three windows. A
square roof vent is centrally located in the attic area of the gambrel end. The main floor of this section has a
central large plate-glass window equal in size to the windows above. This window is flanked by two large
12-over-one wood-sash double-hung windows. The northern colonnade has been described in detail in the

- description of the north fagade. The lower floor level has a central pair of glazed doors providing egress
from the lower floor meeting room (former Billiard Room). Two pairs of rectangular plate-glass windows
flank the door opening. A small shed roof dormer has been added to the western roof slope of the northern
wing.

Seattle Yacht Club: Building Plan & Interior Features

The main floor has its primary formal entry located on the north. The irregularly-shaped vestibule, dating
from 1988, has an elevator to the right of a large opening slightly to the left that leads to the main, 1920,
north-south corridor and the main stairway branching off to the left, or east, leading up to the second
floor and down to the lower floor level. The club’s service areas are located to the left, or east, of the
main corridor, with the kitchen located in the southeastern corner of the building. The club’s original,
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1920, “Social Hall” is located to the right, or west, of the corridor and the dining room is reached by way
of the a secondary corridor that branches to the right, leading to the dining room, or to the left, leading
directly into the kitchen. All walls have painted 8" base trim and a simple architrave with an ogee ceiling
molding. All floors within the main circulation area and public rooms are carpeted.

The Dining Room is a contemporary, 1967, space contained within the southwestern addition and features
large rectangular plate-glass windows overlooking the club’s moorage to the southwest. Window trim is
simple stained hardwood. A central faceted chandelier with a simple box coffer and cove lighting provides
focus to the room. Recessed ceiling-mounted fixtures provide additional lighting.

To the right, or west, of the main corridor is the club’s original, 1920, “Social Hall.” This room is
approximately 44' wide and 34' deep. The room is divided into three bays by coffered beams running
north-south across the room’s ceiling. (Note: the coffering covers 8" x14" steel beams that are supported
by roof trusses at their mid-span.) The coffering and the room’s continuous architrave have a frieze of
flabelliform ornamentation. The room focuses on a projecting fireplace on the south. The fireplace has as
a simple Colonial revival chimneybreast. A pair of upright brass sconces is mounted above the fireplace.
Recessed lights within the ceiling provide additional room lighting. Four folding doors located to the right of
the fireplace provide access to the Dining Room.

The main stairway, dating from 1920, is located to the east of the main corridor and has painted colonial
balusters and newels. The newels are topped by round brass finials. The main stairway leads up to an
upper floor landing that provides access to restrooms on the right, the tower vestibule straight ahead
{(west), and to a meeting room on the left (south). The octagonal vestibule is contained within the walls
and open to the interior of the tower. A steep stair to the right (north), leads up to the top of the tower,
the 1989 elevator is located directly ahead (west) and the upper dining room and a 1920s conference
room {Commodore's Room) is accessed by way of doorways on the left (south). The “L"-shaped Dining
Room includes both the club's original, 1920,“Card & Reading Room” and additional space, now the
bar, on the south that was adapted from an original, 1920, storeroom and bedroom. The original
fireplace of the “Card & Reading Room” remains, although a contemporary chimney surround has been
installed. The upper southwestern deck created by the southwestern 1967 addition is accessed through
pairs of glazed doors from the southwestern corner of the original “Card & Reading Room” and from the
bar area on the west. Simple contemporary chandeliers supplemented by recessed ceiling-mounted
fixtures provide lighting in the room. All public rooms on the second floor are carpeted.

The main stairway also leads to the lower floor corridor that quickly doglegs to the left, running north-
south the entire length of the building, and ending at the southern lower floor entrance. Service areas
are generally located to the left (east) of the corridor, the original, 1920, “Billiard Room” is located on the
right (west) of the corridor, and the club’s administrative offices are located in the southwestern corner
of the building dating from 1967. All public rooms and administrative offices are carpeted.

The former “Billiard Room” is located beneath the club's original “Social Hall” and has the same overall
dimensions as that room. The ceiling has simple coffers supported by a pair of square columns with
simple upper brackets. The original projecting brick masonry fireplace has been painted. A pair of
glazed exterior doors located on the room’s western wall, provide egress. Recessed ceiling-mounted
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fluorescent fixtures provide lighting for the room.

Documented Building Alterations and Existing Condition

Date Architect Description
1946 Ralf E. Decker, AlA Increase size of western windows, interior alterations to the entry
and powder room. (permit # 376145)
1957 unknown Remove second floor bearing partition. {permit # 454395)
1967 John Graham and Company  Southwestern Addition adding a new main floor dining room on the
Architects southwestern corner of the building and expanding the kitchen into

the existing dining room. Also included modification to the upper
floor areas to create an additional dining space, deck, and meeting
room. Locker rooms were also removed from the lower floor and
other lower floor areas were reconfigured. (permit # 500428)

1981 Brewer Westberg Architects Modifications to the main fioor “Social Room.” {permit # 596317)

1989-90 George W. Heiderman, AlA Accessibility improvements including the addition of an elevator
and the creation of an entry vestibule. (permit # 648158)

1990 unknown Alterations to lower floor restrooms {permit # 651105}
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

The Seattle Yacht Club - Main Station is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under
criterion “A” for its association to the broad patterns of social history in the city of Seattle. As an exclusive
club in Seattle, members have been prominent community figures. Not only have many members made
significant contributions to history outside of the Yacht Club, the Seattle Yacht Ciub, itself, has made a
significant impact on Seattle’s cultural events. The significant confributions include boating and yachting,
sponsoring races, training young sailors, and providing a place for both professional and amateur boaters
and boat builders in Seattle to congregate. Boating was the most important form of transportation in the
Puget Sound region for the early settlers and native peoples as well. The Main Station Clubhouse is a
physical manifestation of the height of the yachting social scene in Seattle in 1920. The period of
significance begins in 1920 with the completion of the building and ends in 1946, the date when a variety
of alterations to the building begin to occur and membership is at an all time low due to WWIL.

Seattle Yacht Club

The Seattle Yacht Club was organized in 1892, when the existing yachting groups in Seattle combined in
order to participate in a proposed Northwest International Yachting Association.! Even at this early date,
yachting was a popular pastime and boating would remain an important method of transportation on
Puget Sound. The club’s first clubhouse was a boathouse located in West Seattle near Duwamish Head.?
The location was too exposed to winds and was too affected by wakes from passing steamers for many
members. The location lead to an almost immediate split of the organization, with members of smaller
vessels forming the Elliott Bay Yacht Club and returning the boat house to the Brighton pier in 1894. The
remaining members moved to a two-story Queen Anne style structure with a faux lighthouse attached to
its northern side.3 However, the building was soon abandoned, probably due to continuing moorage
problems, the continuation of the financial downturn of 1893, and the tack of membership to sustain it.4

In 1909, Seattle architect John Graham Sr. was commissioned to design the new clubhouse for the Elliott
Bay Yacht Club. Graham designed a two-story Craftsman style building (see attached images) to be built on
pilings off-shore of a 200-foot strip of waterfront at the foot of what is now Charles Street, more southeast
of the Duwamish Head on the inside harbor in West Seattle.? With a new clubhouse completed, later that
year the Seattle Yacht Ciub and the Elliott Bay Yacht Club recombined their organizations for a second
time. 8 This created a stronger and more vital club.

1 James R. Warren, The Centennia History of the Seaftle Yacht Club—1882-1992 (Redmond, WA: Liang Communications,
1992), p.17.

2 |bid., p.18.
3 Ibid., pp. 25 & 26.
4 Ibid., p. 19.
5 ibid., p. 43.
6 Ibid., p. 48.
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The Seattle Yacht Club along with other Puget Sound yacht clubs, began to conduct local sailing
competitions and started competing against boats of the newly formed Royal Vancouver club starting in
19086.7 In 1909, a dispute concerning methods of measurements and which set of rules should be used
for the Ted Geary-designed Spirit I ended racing with Canadian clubs. The feud lasted three years until
in 1912, Sir Thomas Lipton, an English Baronet and yachtsman, while visiting Seattle proposed a new
perpetual international challenge cup between American and British Columbian clubs. Subsequently, the
first Northwest Lipton cup race occurred in 1914, with the legendary Sir Tom, designed by Ted Geary,
winning over the Vancouver Yacht Club's Turenga.®

By 1913, the Seattle Yacht Club had grown to 371 members and had a fleet of 88 yachts.? That same
year property for the club’s first outstation, located on Manzanita Bay on the north side of Bainbridge
Island, was purchased. Architect John Graham Sr. also drew the plans for the clubhouse there as well,
but the project was never built, 10

The Yacht Club used the clubhouse in West Seattle until 1918, when, when with the advent of World
War 1, the U.S. government bought it. They utilized the facility for training U.S. merchant marines. !
Eventually the West Seattle clubhouse was moved to Lake Union where it still stands today. The Seattle
Yacht Club operated without a clubhouse for two years, conducting business in the boardroom of the
Dexter Horton Bank. During this time membership fell to 70 active members.12

In 1919, the current Montlake site was acquired under the direction of Commodore Norval H. Latimer,
then president of the Dexter Horton Bank.13 The creation of the ship canal in 1917 made the site on
Portage Bay more accessible to the open waters of the sound and provided an ideal location for a new
clubhouse. Vessels passing from Lake Union into Lake Washington and vice versa had to pass directly
by the new site. The location offered many boating oppertunities for its members on the two lakes.
Former club commodore John Graham Sr. was once again commissioned to design the new clubhouse.
He designed the building in a Colonial-Revival building with an attached faux lighthouse.4 The initial
design shows a north-south running gambrel with the tower to the north. This design was later changed to

7 \bid., pp. 36-39.
8 Ibid., pp. 64-66.
9 |bid., p. 59.

10 Ipid., p. 63.

11 Ibid., pp. 71-74. After the war the Seattle Rod and Gun Club purchased the ¢lubhouse. The Queen City Yacht Club bought the
building in 1926, and removed it by barge to the eastern shore of Lake Union at the foot of Fairview Avenue North. The
Queen City Yacht Club moved to its existing location across Portage Bay from the Seattle Yacht Club in 1938. The huilding
is extant and, although altered, remains at its Lake Union location.

12 1bid., p. 74.
13 1bid., p. 74; and Pratt, p. 13,
14 pratt, pp. 13-16.
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the present T-shaped gambrel configuration. The local building firm of Sylliaasen & Sandahl was hired as
the general contractor.1® The mechanical sub-contactor was Fritz Hellenthal, The electrical sub-contractor
was Meacham & Babcock.16

The club’s fleet was moved to the site during the month of May 1919, and on May 1, 1920, the yacht club
formally dedicated its new clubhouse.'” The club’s membership limit was increased above the original
350, and the initiation fee was reduced in half to $25 doliars to encourage new members. By the end of
the year the club had over 400 members.18 :

“Opening Day” ceremonies featuring a boat parade through the Montlake Cut which became an annual
event after, with the first 30 yachts participating in the first year, 1920.19 Also in 1920, the Pacific
International Yachting Association was formed re-establishing international yacht racing, suspended in
the Northwest because of World 1.2° Throughout the 1920s, lavish entertainment at the club was regular
and many members commissioned large yachts for pleasure cruises.

The Main Station Clubhouse houses all of the administration offices of the Seattle Yacht Club, it also
serves and continues to serve, as a main gathering place for the members, their committees and
activities. Privileges of membership include the use of the Main Station Clubhouse facilities and moorage,
reciprocal privileges with other yacht clubs, the use of ten Seattle Yacht Club outstations, and guest
privileges.

During the Depression the club lost many members, and many of the moorages became vacant.2! There
were still events and races, but greater emphasis was placed on the smaller boats, catboats, and flatties.
Events at the club became less lavish. By 1931 the building was beginning to show signs of wear. That
year the board decided to renovate the yacht club but was unable to raise the necessary funds.22

In the 1940s, the yacht club attempted to rebuild membership. During the war years club members
offered their yachts for patrol duty to the Coast Guard, and some owners served as reserve officers. In
total, over 60 club boats were either loaned or sold to the government.23 Openings Day ceremonies were
greatly reduced during the war years with fewer boats participating. Eventually Club membership

15 pratt, p. 16.
18 1bid., p. 16.
17 Warren, p. 78.
18 |bid., p. 79.
19 1bid., p. 78.

20 ypig., p. 79.

21 1big., p. 107.

22 |hid., p. 109.

23 |bid., pp. 148-151.
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increased after the war, with membership reaching 752 in 1949.2¢ The main station clubhouse received
some alterations in 1946, including larger windows on the western fagade and a redecorated lobby and
powder room.25

In the 1950s, the yacht club formed a women'’s group, added women's names to the roster, and
incorporated more family events.26 Over 500 vessels participated in Opening Day celebrations in 1950,
700 boats in 1951, and 1,143 in 1956. According to Commodore Phil Smith in 1952, “The yacht club had
its highest club spirit in years, the physical plant and club facilities are the finest on the west coast and
moorage was safe and adequate (for the number of boats)."?7 In 1955, the Seattle Yacht Club renewed
its corporate charter for an unlimited number of years.28 Commodore T. Dayton Davies said in 1958, “The
financial condition of the club remains in an exceedingly sound and heaithy condition."29

In 1961, opening day races were restricted by both 1-90 and Evergreen Point Bridge (SR520)
construction.3¢ Membership of the club however was still growing and moorage spaces was becoming
tight. The clubhouse was reaching its 60-year mark. As a result in 1967, covered moorage was added
and modernization of the main station clubhouse, including an addition to the southern end of the
building, was completed.3! The design of these alterations was prepared by John Graham & Company,
then headed by John Graham Jr., son of the criginal architect.

In 1966, one of the Canadian Dunsmuir Islands, commonly named Ovens Island, was acquired as an
outstation.32 Property for an outstation on Henry Island in the San Juan Islands was acquired the next
year, and the club made a 2,500-square-foot addition to the Port Madison outstation in 1967.33 In 1968, a
clubhouse was constructed for the Henry Island outstation, and additional upgrades to the main station
moorage facilities were completed.3* Club membership became restricted to 1,500 in 1970.35 Seattle
Yacht Club became free of debt and claimed assets above one million dollars.36

24 1bid., p. 168.

25 |bid., p. 161.

26 1bid., pp. 174 & 175.
27 1bid., p. 185.

28 |bid., 189.

29 |bid., pp. 200 & 201.
30 1bid., p. 215.

3 Ibig., p. 222.

32 pig., p. 232.

33 Ibid., pp. 226 & 227.
34 1bid., pp. 235 & 240.
39 Ibid., p. 227.

36 1bid., pp. 232 & 233.
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Two years later in 1972, club membership reached 1,500, the proscribed limit.37 The Gig Harbor
outstation land was purchased and Eagle Harbor moorage space was acquired for a new outstation in
1977 .38 That same year land was purchased at Moss Point for another outstation, but the land was sold a
few years later.3? During the 1970s, the club’s Junior Program produced some of the best sailors on the
coast, evidenced by the fact that two members, who were also on the University of Washington sailing
team, were named All-American in 1977.40 In 1978, the Port Ludlow outstation land was purchased 41

In 1982, the Garden Bay outstation was purchased in Pender Harbor, Canada.*2 In 1985, Eagle Harbor
outstation slips, which had been leased since 1978, were purchased.*3 In 1987, an agreement was
reached between the club and the East Gig Harbor Improvement Association for the club to build a pier
and a float there.#* The Seattle Yacht Club outstations provide moorage and facilities for the members
while on recreational boating excursions. Sometimes outstations are used for organized events or boat
races.

The Seattle Yacht Club also continues to sponsors the annual Opening Day ceremonies in May through
the Montlake Cut and also the annual Special Peoples Cruise for the developmentally disabled every
winter. Competitive sailing continues as a major focus for the club as it sponsors the Tri-Island Sailboat
Series, the oldest sailboat series on Puget Sound, every year. Currently, the Seattle Yacht Club has nine
outstations and four other clubhouses besides the main station on Portage Bay.4> The club, as of October
2005, has 1,247 Active members, 463 Active intermediates (ages 21-40) members, 329 Life members,
and 158 Junior (ages 16-20) members 46

Yacht Club Development and Buildings in North America

Early yacht clubs in the United States met in improvised quarters on members’ vessels, rented rooms, or
in makeshift sheds or boathouses near moorage. Among the earliest known yacht clubs is the the New
York Yacht Club which was established in 1844. By 1846 the club was meeting in a small building
designed by architect Andrew Jackson Davis.4” This Gothic Revival cottage was probably the first

37 \bid., p. 260.

38 |pig., p. 272.

39 Ibid., pp. 278 & 79.

40 ypid., pp. 280 & 281,

41 1bid., p. 281.

42 1bid., p. 304.

43 1bid., pp. 283 & 312.

44 ibid., pp. 334 & 335

45 1bid., p. 79.

46 Bramstet, John, Membership Director, Seattle Yacht Club, telephone interview, October 26, 2005.

47 Michael Levitt, “About the New York Yacht Club,” http://nyyc.orgfindex.cim?relatedlink=History&
content=dcmsé&option=dcmsé&rltest=1, accessed October 14, 2005,
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dedicated yacht club building in the United States. Other American yacht clubs were subsequently formed
in the latter half of the nineteenth century on the East Coast, including the Portland Yacht Club in Maine,
1869; the Rhode Island Yacht Club, 1875; the Florida Yacht Club, 1878; the Hull Yacht Club, near
Boston, Massachusetts, 1880; the Corinthian Yacht Club in Marblehead, Massachusetts, 1885; the Indian
Harbor Yacht Club in Greenwich, Connecticut, 1889; and on the West Coast the San Francisco Yacht
Club, 1869; the Santa Barbara Yacht Club, 1872; the San Francisco’s Corinthian Yacht Club, 1886; the
San Diego Yacht Club in 1886; and the Seattle Yacht Club in 1892.

Yacht club clubhouses tended to be makeshift affairs throughout the turn of the nineteenth century with a
few notable exceptions. In 1882, the Hull Yacht Club near Boston built a four-story Shingle style
clubhouse on Boston Harbor, enticing new members with three bowling alleys, a billiard room, a dining
room, and two reception rooms.48 The building, after being sold to private investors for speculation as a
hotel, was deemed a fire hazard and dismantled in the mid-1930's. In 1898, the Corinthian Yacht Club in
Marblehead, Massachusetts, built a major Colonial-Revival clubhouse that, although altered, remains in
use today.*? In 1901, the New York Yacht Club erected a grand Beaux-Arts building on West 44" Street
in Manhattan designed by architects Whitney Warren and Charles D. Wetmore.50 1n 1911, the Corinthian
Yacht Club of San Francisco erected a flat-roofed Colonial-Revival clubhouse in Tiburon, the oldest
extant clubhouse on the West Coast.>!

The general prosperity of the early 1920s, and an increase in the popularity of yachting, led several clubs
to build new more substantial structures. Many focused on the idea of using a light station as a basis for a
design motif. Seattle architect John Graham Sr. Colonial-Revival building complete with a faux
lighthouse for the Seattle Yacht Club in 1920 may have been the first.52 The San Diego Yacht club also
built a lighthouse-inspired clubhouse at Coronado in 1923, later barging it across the bay to Shelter
Island.5® The Santa Barbara Yacht Club built a Colonial-Revival clubhouse, also with a faux lighthouse,
designed by yachtsman and local architect Winsor Soule, on Stern’s Wharf in 1926.54 This fascination
with lighthouses was later brought to its logical conclusion when the St. Francis Yacht Club in San
Francisco purchased a 1905 lighthouse and relocated it on Tinsley Island on the Sacramento Delta in the
1970s as an outstation.3%

48 Hull Yacht Club, “A Brief History of The Hull Yacht Club,” hitp://www.hullyc.org/club_history.shtm!, accessed October 14,
- 2005.

49 Corinthian Yacht Club, “Corinthian Yacht Club History,” hitp://corinthianyc.org/history62 html, accessed October 14, 2005,
S0 Levitt.

51 Corinthian Yacht Club of San Francisco, “About the Corinthian Yacht Club,” hitp:/fwwwcyc.org/about.html, accessed October
14, 2005. )

52 Daniel L. Pratt, “The Creation of the New Seattle Yacht Club,” Pacific Motor Boat, July 1920, pp. 13-16.
53 san Diego Yacht Club, “SDYC History,” http://www.sdyc.org/about/history.htm, accessed October 14, 2005.
54 santa Barbara Yacht Club, “Club History from 1872 to Present,” http:/iwww.abyc.org/history.html, accessed October 14, 2005.

93 8¢, Francis Yacht Club, “About the Club,” htip:/fwww stfyc.com/default.aspx?p=DynamicModule&
Pageld=202050&b=1&s|=1&vnf=&ssid=100&dpageid=2017278&bhcp=1, accessed October 14, 2005.
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As the yacht clubs turned to other social activities to attract new membership, post-Depression
clubhouses began to resemble waterside restaurants rather than mainly providing meeting rooms and
locker rooms. Older facilities were enlarged and modified to accept additional social events.

John Graham Sr. (1873-1955)

John Graham Jr. (1908-1991)

Seattle architect John Graham Sr. was born in Liverpool and acquired his professional skills in England
through apprenticeship. He moved to Seattle in 1901, practicing architecture mainly in Seattle until
1940.58 An early project was the reconstruction of the Trinity Episcopal Church (1902-03) after the original
1891 church had been destroyed by fire. He was briefly associated with Alfred Bodley in 1904, before
joining with architect David Myers in 1905, in a partnership that lasted until 1910. 57 This partnership
produced designs for three apartment buildings, the Kenny Presbyterian Home, and at least two large
eclectic houses. Graham and Myers also designed several of the pavilions for the 1909 Alaska Yukon
Exhibition, and designed the first clubhouse for the Elliott Bay Yacht Club (later the Seattle Yacht Club)
that same year.58

In 1910, John Graham Sr. became a sole practitioner and began designing buildings of major significance
in Seattle.5® His first major commission was for the Joshua Green Building (1913), one of the first major
buildings in the expansion of the business district north from Pioneer Square. This building incorporated
the steel frame and terra cotta cladding. That same year Graham designed an assembly plant for the
Ford Motor Company (1913, now Shurguard Storage) in Seattle. That led Graham to open an office in
Detroit, Michigan where he supervised several other Ford assembly plants built around the United States
between 1914 and 1918.5¢

Graham's design of the Fredrick and Nelson Department Store (1916-19) was the first of several finely
detailed terra-cotta-clad commercial buildings in Seattle, the Dexter Horton Building (1921-24) being
another example.81 His Bank of California Building (1923-24), also clad with light colored terra cotta,
demonstrates superb classical detailing on the interior.52

56 Grant Hildebrand, “John Graham, Sr.,”in Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Historical Guide fo Architects, ed. Jeffrey Karl
Ochsner (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 1994), p. 90.

57 Ibid.

58 Ipid., pp. 90 & 92: Warren, p. 43
59 Hildebrand, p. 90.

60 1bid., p. 90.

61 1bid., p. 90 & 93.

62 |bid., p. 91 & 92.
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Graham also excelled in the development of the Art Deco style; the Bon Marché Building (1927-29, now
Macy's), the Roosevelt Hotel (1928-29), and the Exchange Building (1929-31} all demonstrate mastery in
detail and development of Art Deco motifs.83 Graham also collaborated with Bebb & Gould on the design
of the U.S. Marine Hospital Campus (1931-34, now Pacific Medical Center, altered), considered one of
the finest examples of the style in the Northwest.54 Despite embracing the new Moderne style, Graham
could also fall back on his eclectic roots to please the University of Washington Board of Regents.
Graham designed four major Collegiate Gothic buildings on the campus, beginning with the Physics Hall
(1927-28, altered, now Mary Gates Hall).55

Between 1936 and 1942, while associated with engineer William Painter, Graham also operated from an
office at Rockefeller Center in New York City.88 His son John Graham Jr. joined the firm New York office
in the 1937, specializing in department store design.®” Over the next few years Graham began transfer
the practice to his son, retiring from active practice in 1946.58 After his father’s retirement, John Graham
Jr. returned to Seattle and completely took over his father's firm, John Graham & Company. John
Graham Jr. would lead the company until his death in 1991, the firm becoming one of the premier
commercial architectural firms in the United States.®® Notable projects include: the Northgate Shopping
Center (1946-50, ailtered) in Seattle, the Ala Moana Center (1960, altered) in Honolulu, The Space
Needle (1960-62, with Victor Steinbrueck, altered) in Seattle, the Wells Fargo Building (1960-66, now 44
Montgomery Street Building) in San Francisco, and the Bank of California Building (1971-74, now Key
Bank).70 John Graham & Company also designed the south addition to the Seattle Yacht Club, Main
Station between 1962 and 1963.71

John Graham Sr. was an enthusiastic yachtsman, a competitive sailor in his early years, and an active
member of the Seattle Yacht Club, serving as commodore for the club in 1913 and 1929.72 Graham

designed the club’s second clubhouse in 1909, the outstation clubhouse at Port Madison, and the main
station clubhouse in 1920.73 Graham owned several boats and yachts during his life, including the Ted

63 Ibig., p. 92.
64 1bid., p. 92.
65 bid., p.94.
66 pid., p. 92.
67 1bid., p. 92.

68 |big., p. 92. This transfer may have been somewhat acrimonious. See Norman C. Blanchard and Stephen Wilen, Knee-Deep
in Shavings: Memories of Early Yachting and Boatbuilding on the West Coast (Vicloria, B.C., Canada: Horsdal & Schubart,
1999), p. 52.

69 Meredith L. Clausen, “John Graham, Jr.,” in Shaping Seattle Architecture: A Historical Guide to Architects, ed. Jeffrey Karl
Ochsner (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 1994), p. 259.

70 )bid., p. 260.

71 The firm is identified on the plan set “Additions and Alterations to Seattle Yacht Club” dated 1963.
72 Warren, p. 95.

73 Ibid., p. 48 & 63.
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Geary-designed 45' yawl Ortuna, the 40" auxiliary schooner Sovereign, and the 65" Geary-designed
motor yacht Mary.”® Graham also commissioned the 96’ Geary-designed Blue Peter in 1928, but lost her
during the Depression.”® Blue Peter is presently based in Seattle and is considered one of the premier
classic yachts in the Northwest. Graham’s last yacht was the Anchor Jensen-built 65' motor yacht
Pelagic.’®

Norval H. Latimer (1863-1923)

As commodore of the Seattle Yacht Club between 1917 and 1919, Norval H. Latimer spearheading the
purchase of the Montlake property of the Yacht Club’s main station and oversaw the construction of the
Yacht Club’s main station clubhouse.”” He also organized and administered the financing of the new
clubhouse, and is generally credited along with John Graham Senior as the two men responsible for the
construction of the Seattle Yacht Club’s Main Station Clubhouse.”8

Originally born in Berwick, lllinois, Norval H. Latimer moved to Seattle where he gained employment with
the Dexter Horton Company in 1882.7° He became manager of the Dexter Horton Bank in 1889, and was
elected president and became one of the directors of the newly reorganized Dexter Horton National Bank
in 1910.89 Latimer was considered one of the foremost bankers in the state, serving as president of the
Washington State Bankers Association.8! He also served as president of the Snoqualmie Power
Company and the Diamond Ice Company.82 Latimer was active in the Artic Club, the Rainier Club, the
Seattle Athletic Club, and the Tacoma Club.83

74 Blanchard, pp. 48-55.

75 Ibid., p. 49.

78 |bid., p. 52.

77 warren, p. 57; Pratt, p. 13.
78 |bid., p.14

79 Clarence B. Bagley, “Norval Hastings Latimer,” in History of King Counfy, Washington, vol.2 (Chicago: S. J. Clarke, 1929), p.
882.

80 |bid., p. 882.
81 |bid., p. 882.
82 |hid., p. 882.
83 |bid., p. 882.
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Boundary Description:

The nominated property includes Lots 1 through 7, Block 3, Montlake Park, according to plat thereof,
recorded in Volume 18, page 20, in King County, Washington; together with those portions of the vacated
alleys in said Block 3 which would attach by operation of law, said alleys having been vacated pursuant to
City of Seattle Ordinance Numbers 89765 and 100408, a copy of the latter of which was recorded under
Recording Number 7111500308.

Boundary Justification:

The nominated property encompasses the entire urban tax lot, which is under exclusive ownership of the
Seattle Yacht Club and has historically been associated with the main clubhouse building. Other
resources historically associated with the Seattle Yacht Club, such as the “Yardarm” and the “Historic
Anchor” and slips, are not included within the boundary of the nominated property. The Seatile Yacht
Club moorage is on leased property owned by the Department of Natural Resources and the yarndarn
and anchor are located on property owned by Seattle Parks that is under a maintenance agreement with
the Seattle Yacht Club.



HISTORIC FIGURES AMONG MEMBERS OF
SEATTLE YACHT CLUB, 1892-2006

N. H. Latimer; Banker, Financier, President of Dexter Horton Bank - one of the first
banks in Seattle, 3-term Commodore of SYC. Latimer led the Club through the
planning and construction of its present Portage Bay club house (1917-1919).

Col. C. B. Blethen; Yachtsman and Commodore of SYC in 1931. Owner and publisher
of The Seattle Times. Some of his descendants continue as SYC club members.

Miller Freeman; Life Member, developer, publisher. Freeman was an active promoter
of pleasure boating and ocean science. He established the University of Washington
campus for Oceanography and Fisheries and published Pacific Motor Boat magazine
with Daniel Pratt, editor.

Scott Calhoun; One time Seattle City Attorney and first attorney for the Port of
Seattle. With Miller Freeman, Calhoun negotiated the agreement with the City for the
SYC club house site.

L. E. “"Ted” Geary; Arguably the West Coast’s best yacht designer and Commodore of
SYC in 1930. A renowned naval architect and racing skipper, Geary also designed the
first diesel-powered tug boat in North America, the Chickamauga (1915).

Robert Moran; Yachtsman, financier, ship builder. Moran was the managing owner of
Moran Brothers Shipyard, Seattle, builders of the battleship Nebraska. He also built
the schooner San Wan, and the retreat (now resort) at Rosario, Orcas Island,
Washington.

Capt. James Griffiths; 3-term Commodore of SYC,.sea captain, importer, financier
and ship builder. Capt. Griffiths ran his ship yard at Winslow on Bainbridge Island
(formerly Hall Bros.) and owned a number of the finest motor yachts. He arranged the
first regular shipments of silk from the Orient with NYK Lines.

Henry Kotkins; Manufacturer, Seattle Port Commissioner and yachtsman. Kotkins
owned and skippered the famous yawl Diamond Head for over forty years and
founded Skyway Luggage.

John Graham, Sr.; Architect, yachtsman and 2-term Commodore of SYC. He
designed numerous Seattle landmarks including The Bon Marche (now, Macy’s), the
Dexter Horton Building and the present Portage Bay club house for SYC (1918-1919).

Stanley Sayers; Auto dealer and race boat innovator. Sayers’ then-revolutionary
unlimited hydroplane Sfo-Mo-Shun IV brought the Unlimited Hydroplane Gold Cup to
Seattle in 1950.

Bill & Carl Buchan; Father and son sailboat racers, they both won Gold Medals in
their respective classes in the 1984 Olympic Games at Los Angeles. Bill has also won
the Star Class World Championship twice, Carl once.
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Photographs

1) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Ellen Mirro
8/25/05
IMG_2590.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing southeast at main entry

2) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Ellen Mirro
8/25/05
IMG_2580.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing south at north facade

3) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0916.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, detail of tower viewing south

4) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Ellen Mirro
8/25/05
IMG_2583.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing west at east facade

5) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Ellen Mirro
8/25/05
IMG_2584.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing north at south facade

6) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
: King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0904.JPG _
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing east at west facade



7) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0890.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, lower floor, former “Billiard Room,”
viewing southwest

8) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0862.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, main floor entry, viewing southeast

9) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0875.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, main floor hall, viewing north

10)The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0869.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, main floor dining room, viewing
southwest

11)The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0855.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, upper floor tower stair, viewing north

12)The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County, Washington
Larry Johnson
9/19/05
IMG_0844.JPG
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, upper floor dining room/lounge, viewing
southwest



13)The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station Yardarm
King County, Washington '
Ellen Mirro
11/17/05
IMG_4101.JPG

Seattle Yacht Club Main Station Yardarm, viewing south from West
Montlake Park

14)The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station Historic Anchor
King County, Washington
Ellen Mirro
11/17/05
IMG_4104.JPG

Seattle Yacht Club Main Station Historic Anchor, viewing west
Historic photos of the property

15) The Seattle Yacht Club, West Seattle
King County Washington

Unknown photographer, property of Puget Sound Maritime Historical
Society, Joe Williamson Collection

7/3/1909

negative #1741-94

Seattle Yacht Club West Seattle, viewing southeast across Elliott Bay

16) The Seattle Yacht Club, West Seatlle
King County Washington
Unknown photographer, property of Puget Sound Maritime Historical
Society, Hudson Collection
No date
negative #879-59
Seattle Yacht Club West Seattle, viewing northwest

17) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County Washington
Staff Photographer, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, property of Museum of

History and Industry, Seattle Post-Intelligencer Collection
Circa 1925

image #P121580
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing east



18) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County Washington
Unknown photographer, property of Museum of History and Industry,
Pemco, Webster and Stevens Collection
Circa 1920
image #1983.10.1944
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing southeast

19) The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station
King County Washington _
Tax Assessors Photograph, property of Puget Sound Regional Archives
Circa 1938
Folio #1794, parcel number 5605000305
Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, viewing southeast

20)  The Seattle Yacht Club Main Station and surrounding

King County Washington

Staff Photographer, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, property of Museum of
History and Industry, Seattle Post-intelligencer Collection

No date

Image # P1-21583

Seattle Yacht Club Main Station, Portage Bay moorage, West Montlake
Park, and houses, aerial viewing southwest

Attachments

Plans: John Graham Senior, Architect 6/29/1919

Plans: John Graham Senior, Architect 5/1/31

Plans: John Graham and Company, Architects 1/7/1963
Plans: Brewer Westberg, Architects 3/13/1979

Plans: George W. Heideman, Architect 3/15/1989
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Chittenden (Hiram M.) Locks and
Related Features of the Lake
Washington Ship Canal
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
SUMMARY STATEMENT

By making a continuous waterway of man-made channels and inland bodies extending nearly
eight miles between Puget Sound and Lake Washington, the Lake Washington Ship Canal .
opened up a vast fresh-water harbor to ocean-going vessels and thus complemented Seattle's
deep-water port facilities in Elliott Bay. The project was conceived and planned over a
period of years in cooperation with private enterprise and local government and was
completed under auspices of the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers and dedicated in 1917. Its
primary components are a fixed dam and double locks and a 17-acre reservation at Salmon
Bay in the Ballard District; a channel slightly more than a mile long known as the Fremont
Cut, which connects the Salmon Bay Waterway to Lake Union; and a half-mile long channel
known as the Montlake Cut, which in turn joins Lake Union to Lake Washington. These
engineering features have been little altered since their completion sixty years ago,
except for repairs and a normal amount of upgrading, and they have remained under the
jurisdiction of the Department of the Army. At the locks site, now officially designated
the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, approximately half of the structures supporting the opera-
tion of the locks haye been added since the 1940s. However, the initial complex of ten

or twelve concrete accessory buildings is intact. Moreover, for the most part, the Corps
of Engineers Master Plan for the project provides for the preservation and enhancement

of historical elements.

LEGAL DBESCRIPTION

The Hiram M. Chittenden Locks of the Lake Washington Ship Canal are located in SE% Sec.
10, T.25N., R.3E. and in SW% Sec. 11, T.25N., R.3E., of the Willamette Meridian. The
engineering feature straddles the Salmon Bay Waterway, and the accompanying government
reservation is sited amidst the Ballard Tide Lands on the north shore and the Seattle
Tide Lands on the south shore. .. + SRS IR .

The Fremont Cut of the Lake Washington Ship.Canal is Tocated in NW4, NE% and SE% Sec. 13,
T.25N., R.3E., and in SW% Sec. 18, T.25N., R.4E., of the Willamette Meridian. The
engineering feature traverses the Ross Addition and Denny and Hoyt's Addition to the
Plat of Seattle.

The Montlake Cut of the Lake Washington Ship Canal is located in Sk Sec. fﬁ, T,25N., R.4E.,
of the Willamette Meridian. The engineering feature is bordered by the University of
Washington tract on the north shore and, on the south shore, by the Montlake Park

Addition to the Plat of Seattle.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE SITE

The locks and dam are situated athwart the foot of Salmon Bay, originally a tidal inlet,
which gives into Shilshole Bay north of Magnolia Head in Puget Sound. To the south of
the headland, in Elliott Bay, lies Seattle's principal harbor. Oriented northwest to
southeast, the locks and dam span the narrowest section of the Salmon Bay Waterway, where
it is some 400 feet across, approximately a mile and a half east of the entrance to
Shilshole Bay. When these features raised and stabilized its water level, Salmon Bay
ultimately became a freshwater body and the harbor of a sizable fishing fleet. As is
pointed out in the Lake Washington Ship Canal Master Plan, Tands adjoining the eight-mile
waterway between Puget Sound and Lake Washington have been developed for commercial,
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industrial, residential, park and other public purposes, but shoreline use of the canal
is predominantly related to the maritime industry. As a consequence, boat ramps and
marinas; piers, docks and wharves; marine repair shops and shipbuilding yards are typical
developments in the near vicinity of the three separate parcels proposed for nomination.
The first parcel of 49 acres embraces the locks and their guide piers, the spillway dam
and fish ladder, and grounds owned in fee simple by the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers.
The second and third parcels of 38.5 and 20 acres, respectively, are limited to the
Corps' fee-owned holdings along the Fremont and Montlake Cuts.

The preponderance of the 17-acre reservation which accompanies the locks lies on the north
shore of the waterway, where maintenance and administrative facilities are arranged on a
modified grid perpendicular to the waterway. The westerly portion of the reservation
rises to an elevation of 45 feet, and sited atop this plateau is the Lock-keeper's House,
which currently serves as the residence of the District Engineer. In front of the house,
a terraced embankment of dredge spoils falls off toward water grade in 5-foot intervals.
A paved concourse parallel with the waterway extends the length of the lawn-covered
plateau, and at its westerly end is a viewing platform or overlook with solid concrete
railing. This secondary concourse is linked to a private gateway in the northwest corner
of the reservation by curvilinear road segments which encompass the residential knoll.

In this informally landscaped westerly section of about seven acres is a luxuriant array
of mature ornamental and specimen trees, shrubs and bedding plants introduced by grounds-
keeper Carl S. English and others in the 1930s and 1940s. .

The high ground of the reservation siopes off gradually on the east to level terrain
about 20 feet in elevation. Here the maintenance campus is laid out along the main
concourse, which is essentially on axis with the spillway dam. Included in this more-or-
less formal complex of classically-styled concrete structures designed by the eminent
Tocal firm of Bebb and Gould are the administration building, which is the focal point,
the machine shop, office and shop building, and mechanics shop. Each of these is clustered
around a courtyard which opens onto the locks. Other initial structures, the gas and oil
building, carpenter and blacksmith shops and transformer house, are sited to the north in
the direction of the east gateway which serves as the visitors' entrance. In the 1940s

a number of new structures, some of them temporary in nature, were added on the north and
on the less public easterly margin of the maintenance core. Among the newer structures
are the boathouse, greenhouse, steel shop, and two large metal-clad warehouses, one of
which currently serves as a district garage. An employees' parking lot was developed
inside the east entrance and was well screened by plantings. The Master Plan calls for
its removal eventually. The grounds are Tighted by electroliers on tapered and chamfered
concrete standards. However, the original single globe fixtures have been replaced with
modern lamps. Public parking is provided outside reservation boundaries along Buriington
Northern Railway right-of-way. Reservation boundaries which are not contiguous with the
waterway are lined with security fencing.

Little over an acre of the reservation is 1oéated at the far end of the spillway dam, on
the south shore of the waterway, where a rehabilitated fish ladder and new underwater
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fish yiewing room were completed a year ago., Adjoining the westerly end of this segment
of the reservation is city-owned land which is being developed for day-use park purposes.
In turn, Commodore Park will be linked by trails to the city's Discovery Park, which
occupies portions of the Fort Lawton Military Reservation on Magnolia Bluff.

Lake Union is a comparatively small body covering an area of nearly one and a half
square miles. Further to the interior, Lake Washington, on the other hand, has an area
of 39 square miles and depths that exceed 200 feet. The Fremont Cut, 1ike the Salmon
Bay Waterway which it connects to Lake Union, also is angled to the southeast. It
follows, generally, the course of an old stream bed between the Fremont District on the
north shore and the base of Queen Anne Hill on the south. .Taking its name from the
former district, the channel is 5800 feet in length and 100 feet wide, although the
Corps of Engineers! fee-owned right-of-way is 300 feet wide. The authorized depth of
the channel is 30 feet. Concrete revetments on either side of the channel are here and
there bolstered by rip-rap. The low banksare lined with single rows of Lombardy poplars
which have been aptly described as "colonnades” because they are nearly uninterrupted
from the Northern Pacific Railway Bridge on the westerly end to the Fremont Drawbridge
on the east, Subsidiary landscaping of an informal nature was undertaken along the banks
as a beautification project by the Seattle Garden Club. in the 1950s. ‘

The Montlake Cut follows a compass-oriented easterly course of 2500 feet through a narrow
neck of land between Lake Union's Portage Bay and Union Bay in Lake Washington. The
channel takes its name from the residential district on the south shore. The Montlake
Distpict is connected to the University of Washington campus on the north shore via the
Montlake Drawbridge, which crosses the canal at right angles near the center. The
channel width is 100 feet, although the right-of-way controlled by the Corps of Engineers
is typically 325 feet wide. It is dredged to an authorized depth of 30 feet. The tops
of the concrete revetments are used as waterside walks, and there are trails also about
midway up either steep embankment rising to a height of about 65 feet. On the south shore
a recreational trail was recently improved and developed by the Corps of Engineers in
cooperation with the Seattle Garden Club. It extends from West Montlake Park on the
extreme west end of the channel to Horace McCurdy Park on the east end, and it continues
through and beyond the marches of Foster Island to Washington Park.

HIRAM M, CHITTENDEN LOCKS

Construction of the Jocks and dam was carried out within the protection of two independent
coffer dams, The locks were constructed without piles on a bed of hard clay. Concrete
work, generally held to have been of exceptionally durable quality, was composed of one
part Portland cement, three parts sand, and six parts gravel. The concrete was mixed,
lowered into the forms by bottom dump buckets, spread in layers and spaded, but no

tamping was required, Particular care was taken to protect the concrete from the action
of salt water during the curing process. Detailed descriptions of construction and
%Eerating methods are given in W, J. Barden and A. W. Sargent's 1926 paper published by

e American Society of Civil Engineers, which is Tisted among the bibliographical
references. ' S
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The following general description is quoted from Lake Washington Ship Canal Master Plan,
Design Memorandum 5 (Seattle: Seattle District, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, April 1976),
Section 2, page 7, and Section 4, page 1.

The locks provide a navigation passage between the freshwater portion of the project, at
a mean elevation of 21 feet above sea level, and Shilshole Bay, the level of which is
determined by tidal action. Depending on the tide, the Lift provided by the locks varies
from 6 to 20 feet. The structure incorporates two locks, the larger of which is 825 feet
long between the upper and lower miter gates, and is 80 feet in width. This lock can be
divided into two smaller chambers by an intermediate miter gate. Ocean-going vessels, up
to 30 foot draft, can be accommodated through this lock. A salt-water barrier, hinge-
mounted to the floor of the lock, is air-operated via manual push-button controls located
in the central control tower. The barrier is mamually left in a raised position to reduce
the intrusion of saltwater inmto Salmon Bay but is lowered to permit passage of deep-draft
vessels. Saltwater which passes into Salmon Bay but is lowered to permit passage of deep-
draft vessels. Saltwater which passes into Salmon Bay during lockage settles into a
saltwater basin immediately upstream of the large lock. A saltwater drain conduit returns
the saltwater by gravity to Shilshole Bay. The saltwater drain conduit inlet is at the
bottom of the saltwater settling basin. Flow through the conduit is controlled by an
electrically-operated slutce gate at the fishladder.

The small lock, adjacent to and south of the large lock, has a chamber 150 feet long by
30 feet wide, and is used by smaller vessels with drafts up to 16 feet. Floating mooring
bitts on both the south and north walls limit the usable width to 28 feet.

The dam which forms the barrier between the small lock wall and the south shore is 235 feet
long and has six 32 foot wide spillway openings in which steel radial gates are installed.
The three spillway gates located near the south shore are raised and lowered by an
electrically-operated, movable hoist, while the three spillway gates located near the

locks are equipped with individual electrically-operated gate hoists. Maximun discharge
capacity of the spillway at full gate opening is approximately 16,000 c.f.s. (Note:

The thre§ south gates are scheduled for automation, and the hoist house will have to be
removed.

A rehabilitated fish ladder on the south shore, complete with a fish viewing room, was
recently opened to the publie . . . The original fish ladder at the locks was constructed
in 1917 . . . It has been undergoing vehabilitation gince 1973, at which time the under-
water fish viewing room, pedestrian ramps and rest room facilities were planned.

ACCESSORY STRUCTURES

1. Lockkeeper's House (1913). First permanent building completed on the reservation.

Two sheets of drawings for the building among project records stored on the site are

dated December 1912. Not prepared by local architect Carl F. Gould as once supposed, the
plans evidently were the concept of C. A. D. Young, "Jun. Engineer". A simple, rectangular
construction with stuccoed hollow tile walls. Originally measured 26 x 35 feet. Two
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stories with shingled gable roof and gverhanging eaves with exposed rafters, Certain
details apparently derived from the Craftsman Bungalow, Cross-axial frontal gable;
shed-roofed rear dormer, Brick end chimneys with corbelled caps, Porches have hipped
roofs with shaped outriggers. Regular fenestration. Single and coupled double-hung sash
windows with nine lights over one.

In 1966 the interior was remodeled; partitioning was revised and one of the fireplaces

was removed. Externally, the upgrading was discreet. Among the results: new roof cover
of composition shingles, conversion of front ground story windows to bay windows within
original openings, addition of a bedroom and carport to the rear pantry and stoop. In
1967 the house was dedicated as the official residence of the Seattle District Engineer
and renamed in honor of Colonel James B. Cavanaugh, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers District
Engineer during the construction of the Lake Washington Ship Canal 1911-1917. The Master
Plan calls for no further changes except possible additional buffer planting to increase
privacy.

2. Administration Building (1914-1915). The solitary initial multi-purpose public
building on the reservation and the focal point, it called for extraordinary design
effort. Ten sheets of plans and elevations dated 1914 and prepared by Carl F. Gould of
the eminent local firm of Bebb and Gould are among project records stored on the site.
Rectangular plan measuring 47 x 67 feet. Reinforced concrete construction. Two stories
and basement. Tile-clad hipped roof with central deck. Second Renaissance Revival Style.
Basement contains the pumping plant for unwatering or emptying the locks for annual
repairs and the original electrical distribution panel, which is intact but functionally
superseded. Ground story has cross-axial corridors with central lobby space and prin-
cipal offices in each corner. Lobby is open to second story gallery. Oval ceiling

light of textures and colored glass. Terrazzo fioor with geometric trim of Alaska and
verde antique marble. Centered in lobby floor is a brass plaque in the form of the
battiemented structure which serves as the logogram of the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers.
Further federal iconography is found in the Tobby entablature, which is decorated with
shields, and in the wrought iron gallery railing, where cast iron American eagle

emblems are centered in each section. Interior walls and ceilings, including coved
cornices, are plaster-finished. Woodwork, including door and window trim, baseboards,
pilasters, ogee wall panel moldings, and Ionic stave columns flanking the main entry
vestibule, is varnished oak. Second story storerooms open onto the central gallery.

Each exterior elevation has tripartite organization. Walls are topped with a decorative
concrete parapet. Second story windows are covered with cast-iron grilles. Ground story
arcuated windows and central pedimented doorways are in panels of concrete set off from
the major wall surface by special texturing with a bush hammer. The . main entry on the
southwest, or waterway face is recessed behind a two-story portal arch and surrounded by
plate glass fronted by cast iron grilles. Surmounting either bulkhead of the concrete
steps of this entrance are light globes mounted on fluted concrete drums with dolphin-
supported bronze fittings. These are noteworthy because they are the only external
lighting fixtures on the reservation which have remained wholly intact.
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The building has been only superficially altered, mostly on the interior. The Master
Plan calls for some restoration and upgrading, including the replacement of window sash
to match the original, cleaning and sealing masonry, and refinishing woodwork as required.
While primary visitor-information functions will be shifted elsewhere, the building's
basement pumping plant will be open to the public as an exhibit area. A basement stair-
way access from the exterior and additional interior Tighting are among the few improve-
ments planned. .

3. Operating Houses, Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4 (1914). Nos. 1 through 3 are on the north lock
wall. No. 4 is situated on the middle Tock wall. Single-story structures of reinforced
concrete measuring 14 x 21 feet. Rectilinear domed roofs. Wrap-around corner window
bays with transom grilles. Original purpose was to control locks. Functionally super-
seded by central Control Tower but still operable. Master Plan calls for retention and
reconditioning.

4. Mechanics Shop {1914). Single story structure of reinforced concrete measuring 18 x
56 feet. Built up roof. Base mold, entablature and other details in the classical
tradition conform to the simple utilitarian style of the original group of accessory
buildings. Current use: storage and locker room.

5. Transformer House (1914). Single story structure of reinforced concrete measuring
25 x 33 feet. Built up roof. Contains transformers and emergency generator. The only
one of the original accessory buildings to have a compass orientation rather than con-
forming to the grid perpendicular to the waterway. Openings of the west facade are
outlined with continuous plain moldings under segmental arch heads. Entablature, belt
molds and base in the classical tradition conform to the simple utilitarian style of the
original group of accessory buildings. Pedimented hood over central doorway. Master
Plan calls for minor restoration and cleaning. :

6. Office and Shop Building (1916). Warehouse of the original group of accessory
buiTdings: Reinforced concrete construction measuring 36 x 80 feet. Two stories. Built
up roof. Details in classical tradition conform with established pattern. Later single
story paint shop additions on north end doubled the building's length. Aluminum window
sash has been substituted for original and is to be replaced.

7. Machine Shop (1916). Reinforced concrete construction measuring 30 x 85 feet.
Two stories. Built.up roof. Entablature, belt molds and base in classical tradition
conform to the simple utilitarian style of the original group of accessory buildings.
Aluminum window sash has been substituted for original and is to be replaced.

8. Gas and 0il Building (1916). Single story structure of reinforced concrete measuring
14 x 27 feet. Built up roof. Contains 600 and 315-gallon gasoline tanks. Exterior
details in classical tradition conform to the simple utilitarian style of the original
group of accessory buildings.
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9. Carpenter and Blacksmith Shops (1921). Reinforced concrete construction measuring
31 x 91 feet. Two stories. Built up roof. Entablature, belt molds and base in classi-
cal tradition conform to the pattern established by the original accessory buildings.
This building appears to have replaced temporary frame structures on the site. Master
Plan calls for interior renovation as a visitors' interpretive center, and nearly all
improvements will be confined to the interior. However, the exterior will be cleaned
and sealed and doors and window sash will be replaced along original lines.

10. Emergency Dam Hoist House (1922). Single story structure of reinforced concrete
measuring 20 x 20 feet exclusive of bayed south elevation. Built up roof. Contains
emergency dam hoists and saltwater barrier air compressor. Entablature and base in
classical tradition conform to pattern established by the original group of accessory
buildings. Minor restoration or reconditioning is planned.

11. Steel Shop (1941). Metal-clad steel frame construction measuring 40 x 102 feet.
Built-up roof. Used for steel fabrication, locker room.

12. Warehouse No. 2 (1941). Metal-clad steel frame construction measuring 50 x 160
feet. Built-up roof. Used as storage and office space.

13. District Garage (1941). Metal-clad steel frame construction measuring 50 x 160 feet
with 20 x 25 foot washrack addition on SE corner. Built up roof. District garage and
maintenance shops.

14. Public Comfort Station (1947). Single story reinforced concrete construction
measuring 14 x 58 feet. Master Plan proposes that built up roof be developed as
viewing deck. Situated west of Administration Building overlooking locks.

15. Boathouse (1949). Wood frame construction measuring 55 x 79 feet. Exterior
stuccoed and painted grey to achieve certain compatibility with neighboring structures
of concrete. Houses steam-powered sternwheeler snagboat W. T. Preston and other vessels
under Corps jurisdiction used in snagging and dredging operations.

16. Greenhouse (1949). Single story wood frame construction with double-pitched roof
measuring 15 x 15 feet. Adjoining 15 x 34 foot glass panel structure.

17. Gatehouse (1949). Single story 7 x 7 foot wood frame structure at visitors'
entrance. Master Plan calls for eventual removal and replacement with a new quard
office to be coordinated with a re-designed entry way.

18. Open Storage Shed {1940s?). 25 x 125 feet. Adjacent to east boundary. Not highly
visible. Compass orientation nonconforming with majority of maintenance complex.

19. Quonset Hut (1949). 36 x 60 feet. Located in NE corner of maintenance area. Not
highly visible. Compass orientation nonfonforming with majority of maintenance complex.
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Master Plan calls for removal to allow development of less visible parking area.

20. Control Tower {1969). On middle lock wall. 19 x 24 feet. . Base, or ground story
of reinforced concrete. Overhanging, glass-enclosed steel-grame observation story.
Purpose is to centralize control of locks. Master Plan calls for retention as primary
communications and navigation control structure. However, extensive modifications are
contemplated to make its angu]ar Tines visually conformable with the early concrete
buildings.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

The Lake Washington Ship Canal is significant to Seattle, the state and the nation as a
major engineering achievement completed under government auspices which added morethan

90 miles to the city's waterfrontage accessible to ocean-going vessels. Following decades
of visionary planning and failed attempts along such lines, the project realized by the

U. S. Army Corps of Engineers in 1917 connected Puget Sound with a series of inland

bodies free from tidal fluctuations and destructive marine 1ife. The resulting fresh-
water harbor extending over some 25,000 acres combines with Seattle'as saltwater harbor

in E1T1iott Bay to provide navigational facilities rated among the finest of any port in
the country. :

The workable plan for the canal and locks was delineated and promoted by Major Hiram M.
Chittenden, Seattle District Engineer 1906-1908. Both the project endorsed by the
Department of the Army and various alternative schemes were embraced by the business
community with an enthusiasm which epitomized the bocster spirit of Seattle in the early
years of the century. That ccean-going freighters and barges could be permitted to load
and unload near industrial sites developing on the shores of Lake Union and Lake Washing-
ton was felt to enhance the city's growing image as the transportation center of the
Puget Sound recion and a break-of-bulk point for domestic, coastal and international
trade. The project was executed under the supervision of Colonel James B. Cavanaugh,
District Engineer 1911-1917, and Arthur W. Sargent, Assistant Engineer in charge of
construction. Among local f1gures closely associated with the project were Charles Herbert
Bebb and Carl F. Gould, partners in a leading architectural firm which laid out the main-
tenance campus on the government reservation at the locks.

With its fixed dam and double locks and right-of-way stretching nearly eight miles, the
Lake Washington Ship Canal for many years was generally regarded second in scope only

to the multiple locks and 50-mile-long canal completed across the Isthmus of Panama by
the U. S. government 1904-1914. While the size of Seattle's locks has since. been super-
seded in the continental United States (on the Ohio and Mississippi River, for example),
few, if any, of the later locks are believed to handle more vessels in a given year. The
facilities officially designated the Hiram M, Chittenden Locks in 1956 are operated on a
24-hour daily basis. While naval and commercial craft, fishing boats and log rafts play
a significant role in locks usage, pleasure craft, which have proliferated since the

Post War years, now make up the bulk of traffic.
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BACKGROUND OF THE PROJECT

As is repeatedly pointed out, the notion of a navigable waterway joining Puget Sound to
Lake Union and Lake Washington is nearly as old as settlement in the area. Seattle
pioneer Thomas Mercer is credited with the first doumented public expression on the
subject. In 1854, during a Fourth of July picnic, he cited the advantages of such a
canal and, referring to the union of lakes and bays, he proposed names ultimately
associated with the inland bodies.

The concept first received federal recognition in 1867 when a Board of Engineers for .
the Pacific Coast, headed by Lieutenant Colonel Barton S. Alexander, was charged with
recommending a site for a naval station in Puget Sound waters. One location under con-
sideration was the freshwater basin of Lake Washington, access to which would require the
construction of a ship canal. From that point forward sporadic attempts were made by
local citizens to gain the support of the Department of the Army and Congress for con-
struction of the canal. Private improvement companies were formed, foundered and
dissolved.. Meanwhile, the selection of a route - whether northerly via Salmon Bay and
Lake Union, or to the south via the mouth of the Duwamish River - remained controversial.

In 1890 Congress made its first appropriation for the proposed commercial waterway in
Seattle, and a survey was authorized to locate the most feasible route. The government
survey report, dated December 15, 1891, considered five possibilities, of which the
present general route beginning at Shilshole Bay was preferred as having the best align-
ment and potential for being the least costly. The City of Seattle and King County pro-
ceeded to acquire right-of-way while further investigations and reports on appropriate
routings were made. :

The involvement of the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers in the project on a lasting basis
is marked from the beginning of Major Hiram Chittenden's term as District Engineer. In
1906 Congress authorized the construction by private capital of a canal with a single
timber lock at Salmon Bay proposed by local citizen James A. Moore. In a report on the
Moore proposal dated December 1906, Chittenden itemized the government's interest in the
matter. In essence, the government would be concerned with the commercial promise of a
navigable waterway and would benefit indirectly from the lowering of the waters of Lake
Washington. The latter would facilitate flood control and drainage of swamp Tands. In
his report Chittenden also recommended significant changes in the nature and placement
of the lock, advocating a double lock of more permanent masonry construction. If located
at the narrows near the outlet of Salmon Bay, it would raise Salmon Bay out of tidal
influence and lower Lake Washington waters to the level of the intervening body, Lake
Union. Chittenden provided arguments which reversed the Army's prior negative findings
on the feasibility of the project. The absence of tidal action would simplify cargo
Toading and unloading on the inland waters; Lake Union would offer a placid winter
refuge for the fishing fleet, and fresh water would cleanse destructive teredos and
barnacles from the hulls of ocean-going vessels without the expense of dry-docking.
Thus, the notion that the federal government would assume primary responsibility for

the undertaking was firmly implanted.
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The existing project was based on the detailed annual report on the proposed Lake
Washington Canal filed by Chittenden in December 1907. Because the government-endorsed
northerly route was attacked by Ballard Tumber mill operators who did not wish to relin-
quish their tideland sites and by partisans of the southerly route through newly filled
and platted tidelands along the Duwamish estuary, the canal routing controversy dragged
on for several years. The stalemate was eventually broken, but not before Chittenden's
forced retirement due to disability early in 1910. Reginald H. Thompson, the City Engine:
who master-minded Seattle's grandest public improvement schemes, and the Chamber of
Commerce were important advocates of Chittenden's initial recommendations. The cause
was finally won in June 1910, when Congress appropriated $2,275,000 for construction
according to specifications in the District Engineer's annual report of 1907.

Construction was commenced under the direction of a successor, Colonel James B.
Cavanaugh, in September 1911. Ground was broken for the locks on November 10 of that
-year. In February 1913 the first concrete was deposited in the forms. The gates of the
completed locks were closed July 12, 1916, and the filling of Salmon Bay began. Lake
Washington was lowered to the level of Lake Union by October of that year. The Fremont
Cut was opened between Salmon Bay and Lake Union in the same month. On May 8, 1917 the
Montlake Cut between Lakes Union and Washington was opened in the near vicinity of the
abandoned portage excavated by the Lake Washington Improvement Association. The entire
project was dedicated with due ceremony on July 4, 1917,. during which time the 184 foot
Roosevelt, the flagship of Commodore Robert E. Perry's Arctic Expedition of 1907, led a
parade of traffic through the locks. v

At the time of the dedication the cost of the project was reported to have reached a
total of $5,000,000. In addition to right-of-way acquisition costs, the City of Seattle
bore the expense of building new bridges, sewer and water tunnels and regrading streets
where necessary. The major costs were divided between the State of Washington and King
County, foracquisition of right-of-way and excavation and construction upstream from the
locks, and the federal government, which constructed the locks and accessory works.

HIRAM M. CHITTENDEN - CHAMPION OF THE LAKE HASHINGTDN SHIP CANAL

Hiram M. Chittenden (1858-1917), a native of New York, was graduated from West Point with
high honors as a second lieutenant of engineers in 1884. Thereafter he completed a

three year course in the Engineer School of Application, was made a first lieutenant,

and was ordered to Omaha as engineer officer of the Department of the Platte. Thus
embarked upon a lifetime career as an army engineer, he would soon gain recognition as

a conservationist and historian. Chittenden first achieved national acclaim in 1897

for a massive report advocating federal construction of irrigation dams which is said

to have become the basis of the Newland Act of 1902. After serving in the Spanish-
American War he was returned to Yellowstone Park, where he took charge of completing the
road system he earlier had helped Tay out. In 1904 he was promoted to the rank of major.
and soon after was appointed to the federal commission to locate the boundaries of
Yosemite Park. Chittenden was an early advocate of the concept of multiple-purpose

&
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resource use which is widely applied today. Among his substantial publication credits
are The Yellowstone National Park (1895), The History of Early Steamboat Navigation on
the Missouri River (1903), The Life, Letters and Travels of Father Pierre Jean de Smet
(1905), and, his monumental work, The American Fur Trade of the Far West {1902).

Among the projects which Chittenden directed during his active period as Seattle
District Engineer, 1906-1908, next in importance to the Lake Washington Ship Canal was
planning and construction of 14 miles of the 25 mile tourist road from the western
boundary of Mount Rainier National Park to Camp of the Clouds. From his predecessor
he inherited the on-going task of constructing fire control towers for the coastal
artillery batteries at Forts Flagler, Casey and Worden which comprised the defenses
for Seattle and its harbor in Elliott Bay.

Throughout his Tater years Chittenden suffered from a debilitating paralysis (locomotor
ataxia), but his astonishing capacity for work seldom flagged. By the middle of 1908,
however, his condition had worsened to such an extent that he was forced to withdraw

from normal duty. At the urging of several of his associates in the Ship Canal project,
including City Engineer Reginald Thompson, Secretary of the Interior Richard Ballinger,

a former Seattle Mayor, and others interceded on his behalf and succeeded in securing
Chittenden's promotion to the rank of brigadier-general prior to his disability retirement
on February 10, 1910. Despite his frail health, Chittenden continued to write (War or
Peace, Flood Control, and a revised and expanded edition of his guidebook to Yellowstone
National Park} and to take part in public 1ife as president of the Seattle Port Commission,
1911-1915.

A NOTE ON THE ARCHITECTURAL FIRM OF BEBB AND GOULD

Charles Herbert Bebb (1856-1942) and Carl F. Gould (1873-1939) were leaders of the archi-
tectural community in Seattle. Their selection to lay out and design the complex of
concrete accessory buildings on the government reservation at the ship canal locks was
fitting. The ten or more initial buildings on the site have a range of refinement along
classical lines, but they are solid and straightforward in a manner appropriate to

their function and setting along the massive lock walls.

Bebb, a native of England, was educated at Kings College, London, and the University of
Lausanne, Switzerland, where he studied engineering. He emigrated to the United States
in 1880 and was first employed as a construction engineer by the I1linois Terra Cotta
Company of Chicago. From 1885 to 1890 he served as supervisor of construction for the
eminent architectural firm of Adler and Sullivan. Bebb was the first Washington
architect to be elected a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects. He helped
organize the Washington State Chapter of the AIA in 1894 and served several terms as
its president. From 1911 to 1935 Bebb served as Consulting Architect for the State
Capitol Group in Otympia. In 1915, a year or two after he and Gould commenced a iong
and fruitful partnership, the firm was given charge of the University of Washington
Campus Plan. Gould helped found the University of Washington's School of Architecture
and was first chairman of the department.
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Gould, a native of New York City, was graduated from the Haryard School of Architecture
in 1898 and thereafter spent four years (1899-1903) at the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris.
On his return to the United States he was employed by the eminent New York architects
McKim, Mead and White. Later, he became a member of the New York firm of Carpenter,
Clair and Gould. He arrived in Seattle around the time of the Alaska-Yukon-Pacific
Exposition of 1909, or shortly before. Gould too became active in the affairs of the
Washington State Chapter of the AIA. Among other noted works by Bebb and Gould in
Seattle are the Modernistic Seattle Art Museum (1932), the annex of the Rainier Club
(1929), the U. S. Marine and Virginia Mason Hospitals, and the Olympic Hotel, designed
in cooperation with the George B. Post Company of New York.
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plot plans of the project, For the most part, proposed developments are designed to
preserve and promote public appreciation of the historical features.

Larson, Suzanne B., "Dig the Ditch." The History of the Lake Washington Ship Canal

(Boulder, Colorado: Western Interstate Commission for Higher Education, 1975).
Useful distillation of secondary sources, including annual reports of the Chief of
Engineers, pertinent Congressional documents, special reports, monographs, and
articles. Includes selective bibliography and identifies pertinent material in
local repositories.

Lake Washington Ship Canal and Hiram M. Chittenden Locks (Seattle: Seattle District,
U, S. Army Corps of Engineers, July 1974). Interpretive brochure.

Carl S. English, Jr. Gardens at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Lake Washington Ship
Canal (Seattle: Seattle District, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, December 1974).
Interpretive brochure.

The Lake Washington Ship Canal Fish Ladder (Seattle: Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps
of Engineers, 1976}, Interpretive brochure. :

Barden, W. J., and A. W. Sargent, "The Lake Washington Ship Canal, Washington." Presented
at the meeting of the Waterways Division in Seattle July 15, 1926. Published as
paper No, 1679 in Transactions of the American Society of Civil Engineers. Also
found in American Society of Civil Engineers Proceedings, Vol. 53, No. 2 (August
1927), 1227-1255. Detailed description of project features and methods of construction.

Lake Washington Ship Canal (Seattle: Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
1939.7 Tllustrated typescript updating history and description of design and construc-
tion features. Format based upon Barden and Sargent's report.

Purvis, Neil H., "History of the Lake Washington Canal," Washington Historical Quarterly,
Vol. 25, No. 2 {April 1934), 114-127; Vol. 25, No. 3 (July 1934), 210-213.

Dodds, Gordob N., Hiram Chitténden: His Public Career {Lexington, Kentucky: The Univer-
sity Press of Kentucky, 1973). Especially Chapter 6, pages 128-154, pertaining to
Chittenden's span as Seattle District Engineer 1906-1910 and the planning of the project.

Chittenden, Gen. H, M., U.S. Army, Retired, The Lake Washington Canal: What it Will Mean
to the People (Seattle: Chamber of Commerce, ca. 1914}, 4 pages. MWritten during his
term as president of the Port Commission of Seattle, this is a synthesis of arguments
in favor of the project which Chittenden earlier developed as the Army Corps of
Engineers' Seattle District Engineer. Published as a promotional leaflet by the
Chamber of Commerce, the canal's most ardent supporter in the private sector.

Johnson, Allen, and Dumas Maione, eds., Dictionary of American Biography (New York:
Charles Scribner's Sons, 1958), Vol. 2, C177-178. Note on Hiram Martin Chittenden.

I1lustrated souvenir invitation to the formal observance of the opening of the Lake
Washington Canal, July 4, 1917. Data prepared and printed by the Publicity Bureau,
Seattle Chamber of Commerce and Commercial Club.

McDonald, Lucile, "Now the Name is 'Hiram M. Chittenden Locks': Change Honors Designer
of Marine Landmark at Ballard," Seattle Sunday Times Magazine Section (Sept.16,1956),2.

Rumley, Larry, "The Ballard Locks: How they Work", Seattle Sunday Times Magazine Section
(April 25, 1965), 10-11.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Hiram M. Chittenden Locks

Beginning at a point on the SW corner Lot 1, Block 13 of Ballard Tide Lands; thence
southeasterly along the southerly lot lines of Lots 1 through 5 of said Block 13 to the
SE corner of Lot 5 of said Block; thence north to the southerly boundary of the Great
Northern Railway* right-of-way; thence northeasterly along said railway right-of-way
boundary to a point approximately 7 feet east of the projection north of the east lot
1ine of Lot 2, Block 11, Ballard Tide Lands; thence north 17.5 feet to the southerly
boundary of the Great Northern Railway right-of-way; thence northeasterly along said
railway right-of-way boundary to the projection north of the east 1ot line of Lot 4,
Block 11, Ballard Tide Lands; thence south along said projected 1ine to the SE corner

of Lot 4; thence east in a perpendicular direction along the U.S. Pierhead Line 1050 feet
to the projection south of the west boundary of 26th Avenue N.W.; thence south across

the Salmon Bay Waterway 750 feet to the State Harbor Line; thence west along the State
Harbor Line and northwesterly along the north Tot lines of Lots 1 through 4 of Block 7,
Seattle Tide Lands to a point approximately 45 feet west of the projection north of the
east boundary of 31st Avenue West; thence southwesterly in a line perpendicular to the
Waterway 100 feet; thence northwesterly in a line parallel with the Waterway 535.88 feet;
thence north approximately 105 feet to the U.S. Pierhead Line; thence northwesterly

along said Pierhead Line to the projection south of the east boundary of 34th Avenue N.W.;
thence north along said projected line approximately 350 feet across the Salmon Bay
Waterway to the point of beginning. -

*Burlington Northern Railway current owner

Fremont Cut Parcel

Beginning at a point on the northerly State Harbor Line of the Lake Washington Ship

Canal approximately 25 feet southeast of the Northern Pacific Railway Bridge right-of-way
(which point is the SW corner of Lot 8, Block 1, Seattle Tidelands); thence southeasterly
along said State Harbor Line 5540 feet to a point approximately 280 feet southeasterly

of the Fremont Bridge right-of-way; thence southwesterly 300 feet across the canal to

a point on the southerly State Harbor Line which is approximately 105 feet southeasterly
of the Fremont Bridge right-of-way; thence northwesterly along said State Harbor Line
5810 feet to a point 7.98 feet southeasterly of the NE corner of Lot 12, Block 13,

Ross Addition; thence southeasterly in a line parallel with the northerly lot line

of said Lot 12 approximately 200 feet; thence northeasterly 266.59 feet to the point

of beginning.

Montlake Cut Parcel

Beginning at the SE corner of Block 18-A of the 2nd Supplement, Lake Union Shore
Lands; thence south to a point 48.56 feet south of the north U.S. Bulkhead and Pierhead
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. Line of the Lake Washington Ship Canal; thence in a southeasterly direction 552.73 feet
to a point 151.76 feet south of said U.S. Bulkhead and Pierhead Line; thence east along
a line parallel with said U.S. Bulkhead and Pierhead Line 2069.44 feet; thence in a
southwesterly direction approximately 485 feet across the canal to a point on the
south boundary 1ine of Section 16, T.25N., R.4E., W.M., approximately 240 feet east of
the quarter corner of Section 16; thence west along said Section boundary 1ine 2229.76
feet; thence in a northwesterly direction approximately 510 feet across the canal to a
point on the north U.S. Bulkhead and Pierhead Line approximately 55 feet west of the
point of beginning; thence east along said U.S. Bulkhead and Pierhead Line to the point
of beginning.
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%H PHOTO REFERENCE
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NeGATIVE FiLeD AT Washington State Office of Archaeclogy and Historic Preservation
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W IDENTIFICATION

DESCRIBE VIEW, DIRECTION, ETC. IF DISTRICT. GIVE BUILDING NAME & STREET

paTe oFPHOTO  February 1977

-

PHOTONO. 2 thru 10

2 of 13 Salmon Bay Waterway. Looking nogthwest from south bank past City of Seattle's
Commodore Park development toward Shilshole Bay and Puget Sound.

3 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Looking southeast at large lock. Control Tower
(1969) on right. :

b of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Looking north from lock wall at Administration -
Building (1914) and Operating House No. 2 (1914). Machine Shop (1916) is in
the distance.

5 0of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Administration Building (1914), northeast and
northwest elevations.

6 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Left to right: Administration Building (1914),
Control Tower (1969), Spillway Dam and Housing for Spillway Gate Hoisting
Machine, and Fish Ladder ramp (1976).

7 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Looking southeast at Operating House No, 1 (1914),
Emergency Dam Hoist House and Emergency Dam Storage (1922).. :

8 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Transformer House (191%4), west face. Uistrict .
Garage- (19417 in background. Steel Shop (1941) on right.

9 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Carpenter and Blacksmith Shops (1921), scutheast
corner view.

10 of 13 Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Locks Superintendent's Residence (1913), southwest
view.
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plot plans of the project. For the most part, proposed developments are designed
to preserve and promote public appreciation of the historical features.

Larson, Suzanne B., "Dig the Ditch!" The History of the Lake Washington Ship Canal
(Boulder, Colorado: Western Insterstate Commission for Higher Education, 1975).
Useful distillation of secondary sources, including annual reports of the Chief
of Engineers, pertinent Congressional documents, special reports, monographs, and
articles. Includes selective bibliography and identifies pertinent material in
local repositories.

Lake Washington Ship Canal and Hiram M. Chittenden Locks (Seattle: Seattle Distriet,

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, July 1974%). Interpretive brochure.

Carl S. English, Jr. Gardens at the Hiram M, Chittenden Locks, Lake Washington Ship
Canal (Seattle: Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, December 1974).
Interpretive brochure.

The Lake Washington Ship Canal Fish Ladder (Seattle: Seattle District, U.S., Army Corps
of Engineers, 1976). Interpretive brochure.

Barden, W. J., and A. W. Sargent, "The Lake Washington Ship Canal, Weshington." Presented
at the meeting of the Waterways Division in Seattle July 15, 1926, Published as
paper No, 1679 in Transactions of the American Society of Civil Engineers, Also
found in American Society of Civil Engineers Proceedings, Vol. 53, No. 2 (August
1927), 1227-1255. Detailed description of project features and methods of construc-
tion,

Lake Washington Ship Canal (Seattle: Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
1939). Illustrated typeseript updating history and description of design and con-
struction features. Format based upon Barden and Sargent's report.

Purvis, Neil H., "History of the Lake Washington Canal," Washington Historical Quarterly,
Vol. 25, No. 2 (April 1934), 114-127; Vol, 25, No. 3 (July 193%), 210-213.

Dodds, Gordon B,, Hiram Chittenden: His Public Career (Lexington, Kentucky: The Univer-
sity Press of Kentucky, 1973). Especially Chapter 6, pages 128-154, pertaining to
Chittenden's span as Seattle District Engineer 1906-1910 and the planning of the
project.

Chittenden, Gen. H. M., U.S. Army, Retired, The lLake Washington Canal: What it Will Mean
to the People (Seattle: Chamber of Commerce, ca. 1914), L pages, HWritten during
his term as president of the Port Commission of Seattle, this is a synthesis of argu-
ments in favor of the project which Chittenden earlier developed as the Army Corps of
Engineers' Seattle District Engineer. Published as a promotional leaflet by the
Chamber of Commerce, the canal's most ardent supporter in the private sector.

Johnson, Allen, and Dumas Malone, eds., Dictionary of American Biography (New York:
Charles Scribner's Sons, 1958}, Vol. 2, Cl177-178. Note on Hiram Martin Chittenden.

Illustrated souvenir invitation to the formal observance of the opening of the Lake
Washington Canal, July 4, 1917. Data prepared and printed by the Publicity Bureau,
Seattle Chamber of Commerce and Commercial Club.

McDonald, Lucile, "Now the Name i1s 'Hiram M. Chittenden Locks:' Change Honors Designer of
Marine Landmark at Ballard," Seattle Sunday Times Magazine Section (Sept. 16, 1956),2.

Rumley, Larry, "The Ballard Locks: How They Work," Seattle Sunday Times Magazine Section
(April 25, 1965), 10-11.




Foom No 10-301a ‘
Rev 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR [FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORICPLACES  [FECEVED
PROPERTY PHOTOGRAPH FORM

TE ENTERED

SEE INSTRUCTIONS IN HOW TO COMPLETE NATIONAL REGISTER FORMS
TYPE ALL ENTRIES --|[ENCLOSE WITH PHOTOGRAPH

Bl NAME
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University of Washington Iibrary, Special Collections, Seattle, WA 98105
D} IDENTIFICATION
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Lake Washington Ship Canal and Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Looking east toward Salmon

Bay Waterway, Ballard Bridge and canal to Lake Union beyond. Left to right in govern-
ment locks reservation: Transformer House (1914), temporary carpenter and blacksmith
shops, Residence of the Locks Superintendent (1913), Machine Shop (1916), Office and

Shop Building (1916), Administration Building (1914), large lock, small lock, and spillway
dam,
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Ell NAME
o Chittenden (Hiram M.) Locks and Related Features of the Lake Washington
Ship Canal
AND/OR COMMON
3l LOCATION
CITY, TOWN Seattle ——VICHNITV OF COUNTY King STATE yashington

[}l PHOTO REFERENCE
PHOTOCREDIT Flisabeth Walton Pottex

Washington State Office of Archaeology and Historiec Preservation
P.0. Box 1128, Olympia, WA 98504

[l IDENTIFICATION

DESCRIBE VIEW. DIRECTION. ETC. IF DISTRICT. GIVE BUILDING NAME & STREET PHOTONO. 1] thru 13

DATE OF PHOTO  February 1977

NEGATIVE FILED AT

11 of 13 Iake Washington Ship Canal. General view of Fremont Cut, looking northwest
from the Fremont Bridge.

12 of 13 lake Washington Ship Canal. General view of Montlake Cut, looking east from
south bank of canal toward Montlake Bridge and Union Bay beyond. -

13 of 13 Lake Washington Ship Canal. Montlake Cut, looking west from south bank of
canal at Montlake Bridge with draw spans open for sallboat.
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